
 

 

 
 
 
 

       20 April 2021 
 
 

Henry F. O'Reilly III  
BESSH LLC   
30 W Highland Avenue 
Philadelphia, PA  19118 
 

        VIA EMAIL ONLY  
 

 RE: Traffic Engineering Investigations of 
  8 Townhouses at 30 W Highland Avenue, 
  Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

 

FTA Job # 221-012 
 
 

Mr. O'Reilly:  
 

F. Tavani and Associates, Inc. (FTA) has conducted traffic engineering investigations for the above-
referenced project in Chestnut Hill.  The site is an existing 7,000 SF office building which I understand is 
fully occupied by E. B. O’Reilly – HVAC Design, Construction, & Service Experts.  The project includes 
a proposal to raze the existing building and replace it with 8 residential townhomes.  FTA’s efforts were 
focused on the potential trip generation (traffic) impact the proposal may have on the community. 
 
TRIP GENERATION 
 

Traffic engineers most often cite the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) publication, Trip 
Generation Manual (10th edition) when estimating site traffic.  The publication has been in print for 
decades and is essentially a compendium of regression analyses based on real-world, empirical data at 
existing land uses.  The traffic engineer is tasked with identifying the data in the publication which is the 
best representation of a proposed development.  In this case both office and residential site traffic 
estimates were based on available land use codes (LUC) 710 (General Office) and 220 (Attached 
Multifamily Housing).  ITE’s offered average weekday daily and commuter peak hour trip generation 
rates and resultant trips for townhomes are summarized in the next two tables.   

 
TABLE 1 – TRIP GENERATION RATES, TOWNHOMES 

 

Directional Splits 
Land Use ITE # Time Period 

Equations/ 
Rates Enter % P-By % 

Average Weekday T = 7.32(X) 50% 0% 

A.M. Peak Hour T = 0.46(X) 23% 0% 
Multifamily  

Housing – Low Rise 
220 

P.M. Peak Hour Ln (T) = 0.89(X) – 0.02 63% 0% 
 

T = number of site-generated vehicular trips        X = independent variable (dwelling units) 
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TABLE 2 –TRIPS, TOWNHOMES 
 

Total New Trips 
Description 

Total Enter Exit 

Weekday Daily 60 30 30 

Weekday AM 4 1 3 

Weekday PM 6 4 2 

 

 
As shown, the proposed 8 townhouses will generate about 60 trips per day about 6 (or fewer) trips during 
commuter peak hours, per ITE.  Note that these investigations were carried out using the number of homes 
as a variable in the trip generation models. 
 
The question becomes “is this more or less traffic than the existing use?”  There are two ways to trip 
generate for the existing use:  1) investigate ITE estimates, for consistency with the residential 
investigations, using two different variables or 2) review observational data you have collected at your 
business.  In the case of the former, ITE’s offered average weekday daily and commuter peak hour trip 
generation rates and resultant trips for office space are summarized in the next two tables.   
 

TABLE 3 – TRIP GENERATION RATES, OFFICE 
 

Directional Splits 
Land Use ITE # Time Period 

Equations/ 
Rates Enter % P-By % 

Average Weekday Ln (T) = 0.97(X) + 2.50 50% 0% 

A.M. Peak Hour T = 1.16(X) 86% 0% General Office 710 

P.M. Peak Hour T = 1.15(X) 16% 0% 
 

T = number of site-generated vehicular trips        X = independent variable (1000’s of square feet [KSF] of Gross Floor Area [GFA]) 
 
 

TABLE 4 –TRIPS, OFFICE 
 

Total New Trips 
Description 

Total Enter Exit 

Weekday Daily 80 40 40 

Weekday AM 8 7 1 

Weekday PM 8 1 7 

 
 

As shown, the existing 7 KSF of office will generate about 80 trips per day and about 8 trips during 
commuter peak hours, per ITE.  Thus the trip generation of the proposed townhomes is about 25% less 
(daily) than the existing office, per this ITE method.  Note that these investigations were carried out using 
KSF of GFA as a variable in the trip generation models.  It is also possible to trip generate for office space 
using number of employees as the variable.  Per our discussions, E. B. O’Reilly currently employs about 
30 persons.  Using that variable yields ITE trip generation estimates as follows:  
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TABLE 5 – TRIP GENERATION RATES, OFFICE 
 

Directional Splits 
Land Use ITE # Time Period 

Equations/ 
Rates Enter % P-By % 

Average Weekday T = 3.28(X) 50% 0% 

A.M. Peak Hour T = 0.37(X) 83% 0% General Office 710 

P.M. Peak Hour T = 0.40(X) 20% 0% 
 

T = number of site-generated vehicular trips        X = independent variable (employees) 
 
 

TABLE 6 –TRIPS, OFFICE 
 

Total New Trips 
Description 

Total Enter Exit 

Weekday Daily 98 49 49 

Weekday AM 11 9 2 

Weekday PM 12 2 10 

 

 
As shown – using number of employees as the variable – the existing 7 KSF of office will generate about 
98 trips per day and about 11 or 12 trips during commuter peak hours, per ITE.  Thus the trip generation 
of the proposed townhomes is about 39% less (daily) than the existing office, per this ITE method.   
 
Finally, I understand that you have made your own observations of traffic at 30 W. Highland Avenue by 
watching CCTV recordings of driveway activity at your site over entire typical weekday(s) to formulate 
your own estimate of daily traffic.  Per those recordings, you believe your site currently generates about 70 
trips per day, which is less than ITE estimates for your office, but still more than ITE estimates for the 
proposed townhomes. 

 
CONCLUSIONS 
 

The currently-proposed plan is modest in scale and will generate relatively little new traffic.  In fact, the 
amount of new traffic which will be added to area roadways will be less than traffic currently generated by 
the existing office building, which will be removed as part of the project.  The project will not 
meaningfully impact intersection performance in the study area.  If anything, it should modestly improve 
traffic conditions.  I say this because, in terms of daily traffic, the project will result in about 32% less 
traffic in the neighborhood as compared to the existing condition.  I hope this has been helpful.  Please let 
me know if I can answer any questions.   
 
   Thank you, 
 

   F. TAVANI AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
    

 
   FRANK TAVANI, P.E., PTOE 
       Principal 
 

attachments 
 

cc: Steve Bertil, Esq. 
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